Università degli Studi di Padova

Corso di Laurea Magistrale in Bioingegneria



A Brain-Computer Interface based on Colour Dependent Visual Attention

Relatore: **Prof. Giovanni Sparacino**

Co–relatore: **Dr. Luca Tonin**

> Laureando: Alvise Bon 1064008



Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Brain-Computer Interface system their applications	s and 7
1.1 General aspects of Brain-Computer Interface systems	7
1.2 Brain-Computer Interface closed loop schematization	8
1.3 Brain-Computer Interface Operation	9
1.3.1 Signal acquisition	10
1.3.2 Feature extraction and selection	13
1.3.3 Classification	14
1.3.4 Device control	14
1.4 Brain-Computer Interfaces based on EEG sign	als14
1.4.1 State of the art of EEG-based BCI systems	15
1.4.2 Brain-Computer Interface typologies	15
1.5 Current trends in BCI development	
Chapter 2: A novel Brain-Computer Interface)
based on colour perception	19
2.1 Colour perception	19
2.2 BCI systems based on coloured stimuli	21
2.3 A new BCI system	22
2.4 Aim of the thesis and summary of contents	23
Chapter 3: Experimental Design	25
3.1 Signal acquisition	25
3.2 Participants	26
3.3 Visual paradigm	26

Chapter 4: Data Processing	29
4.1 Time domain analysis	29
4.1.1 Pre-processing	29
4.1.2 Feature extraction and selection	
4.1.3 Classification	
4.2 Frequency domain analysis	32
4.2.1 Pre-processing	
4.2.2 Feature extraction and selection	
4.2.3 Classification	
Chapter 5: Results	37
5.1 Time domain analysis results	
5.2 Frequency domain analysis results	43
5.3 Discussions	45
Chapter 6: Conclusions	47
6.1 Summary of the work	47
6.2 Further considerations	48
6.3 Future applications	49
Appendix	51
Neurophysiology of the EEG signal	51
1 Neurons	51
2 EEG signals	53
3 Brain rhythms	54
4 Evoked potentials	56
AB: Appendix Bibliography	58
Bibliography	59

Abstract

In this thesis we designed a specific visual protocol for a new application in the brain-computer interface field. We evaluated how coloured stimuli affect brain activity in healthy subjects, and performed different analysis in order to highlight the possibility of using coloured stimuli as an input for a brain-computer interface system. We developed a specific visual protocol in order to classify two distinct phases in brain activity related to colour perception. In the first phase we evaluated the characteristic evoked potential derived from the appearance of a coloured rectangular element, while in the second phase we classified the differences in colour perception after the evoked potential phase, during the sustained attention analysis. Corso di Laurea Magistrale in Bioingegneria

Chapter 1: Brain-Computer Interface systems and their applications

1.1 General aspects of Brain-Computer Interface systems

A brain-computer interface (BCI) system links brain activity to a computer, which elaborates information deriving from brain signals and translates them into outputs that allow the final user to communicate and control external devices, without the participation of peripheral nerves and muscles [1]. BCI outputs can also be used as an input for software applications, and these outputs can be effectively used to provide options for communication and control for people affected by neuromuscular disorders such as amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), brainstem stroke, cerebral palsy or spinal cord injury. A BCI system replaces nerves, muscles and the movements they produce with hardware and software, that measure brain signals and translate them into actions [2].

There are several applications of BCI systems. In order to make easier the decision of determining the value of a BCI system for different subjects, Wolpaw et al. [3], suggested that BCI users could be categorized by the extent of their disability. According to this study, BCI potential users can be grouped in three different groups: 1) people who have no useful remaining neuromuscular control (totally locked-in), 2) people who have only a very limited capacity of movement, for example eye movement or a slight muscle twitch, and 3) people who still retain substantial neuromuscular control and can use conventional musclebased assistive communication technologies.

The BCI research field includes different applications. For example one of its aims is to help patients in rehabilitation in order to restore the normal and conventional movements and actions or another purpose of BCI research is to enable the end-users to convey their wishes to caregivers. To do so, BCI systems use processing programs or other software and, furthermore, use output information to control robotic arms or neuroprosthesis [4]. The basic requirement for a BCI system application is that the subject has to see and understand what the caregiver has implemented in real-time, in order to provide an effective control. This idea is strictly inside the concept of the closed loop.

1.2 Brain-Computer Interface closed loop schematization

The success of a BCI application depends on the interaction between two adaptive controllers: the user, whose brain signals encode the intent, and the BCI, which translates these signals into output. In order to be effective, a BCI system might provide a real-time feedback to the subject. The interaction between the user and the system should be adaptive to provide the desired results for the user [5]. In *Figure 1* it is reported a schematic view of a BCI closed loop. *Panel A* reports the firsts elements of the loop, which are the subject and the signal acquisition of brain activity. *Panel B* reports the feature extraction and the related feature classification. *Panel C* illustrates the continuous feedback that has to be provided to the user in order to close the loop, and an example of robotic device that acts as end effector. In **Section 1.3**, we will discuss further about each element inside the BCI loop.



Figure 1 BCI schematic feedback loop. Panel A: subject, signal acquisition. Panel B: feature extraction, classification. Panel C: continuous feedback, external device.

Any BCI system consists of four essential elements. The first one is the signal acquisition: the record of brain activity can be based on several different typologies of brain signal acquisitions. The second element comprehends the feature extraction and selection: in this step there are assorted characteristics that are extracted from the acquired signal; according to the specific BCI application, there are different features that can be used, for example a selected feature can be signal amplitude or the power of the transformed signal in the frequency domain. The third element involves the feature classification in which the significant features are labelled and listed, and then utilized to provide a signal that will be used as an input for the consequent fourth phase. The fourth element utilizes the output signals from the third phase to control an external device [1].

The presence of a visual representation of the given command is important. This representation can be shown on a screen at first, and then it can be linked to the movement of a robotic arm. Feedback is necessary to effectively utilize a BCI system not only to correct any mislead command, but also to realize that each given command is correct in each particular situation. For these reasons, each BCI system needs to provide a real-time feedback to the user.

Control and communication in BCI applications are interactive processes. Controlling brain actuated devices is not an easy task. In real environment each obstacle, each movement leads to a complex situation. A series of high–level commands is given to a semi–autonomous system, which continuously maps few of these into continuous movements.

This concept can be easily understood figuring a horse carriage: the conductor constantly gives commands using bridles to the horses, which act to fulfil the given task. The interaction with the environment is a specific duty of the horses, the conductor has to interact with them only if the task has been correctly or incorrectly completed [1].

1.3 Brain-Computer Interface Operation

In the following sections we will introduce and specify the characteristics of each element inside the BCI loop, starting from signal acquisition and moving towards the last elements that are the continuous feedback and the device control.

1.3.1 Signal acquisition

One of the initial steps for developing a BCI system relies on the acquisition technique. Signal acquisition is the measurement of neurophysiological state of the brain. In BCI applications, the recording interface tracks neural information related to a person's intent, which is embedded in the ongoing brain activity. Basically there are two macro-distinctions in acquisition techniques for gathering brain signals: invasive and non-invasive.

Invasive acquisition techniques use micro unit array (MUA). The invasive electrocorticographic (ECoG) technique contemplates the use of sub-cortical electrodes, implanted surgically directly onto the brain surface. The result is that all signals have a higher signal-to-noise ratio (SNR). This means that the spatial resolution is very high but, on the other hand, the usability is extremely low because of the surgical implantation. Several applications of BCI based on invasive acquisition techniques have been developed. For example, in one of Miller's studies [6], ECoG arrays were placed on the sub-temporal cortical surface of seven epilepsy patients. In one of his works, Miller analysed the decoding perception from electrical potentials measured from the human brain surface. Moreover, the high spatial resolution achieved using these systems allow to provide a fine control in most cases. For example, in a study conducted on primates, it has been possible to develop a very sensitive online BCI application based on motor imagery. A monkey, with ECoG electrodes, utilized a BCI system to feed itself using a robotic arm as end-effector, [7]. Figure 2 illustrates an invasive electrode deposition.



Figure 2 Surgical electrode implantation¹

¹ Edited from http://news.discovery.com/tech/flexible-brain-implant-could-treatepilepsy-111115.htm

- *Non-invasive acquisition techniques* use several different systems, according to the specific physic phenomenon used to record brain signals:
 - Electroencephalographic (EEG) acquisition is based on the electrical activity of a population of neurons. The acquisition involves the presence of surface electrodes, which are positioned on the scalp of the subject, (Figure 3). This means that the spatial resolution is lower than invasive acquisition techniques, because each electrode records and mediates electrical activity of a certain population of neurons. On the other hand surface electrodes are completely non-invasive and this kind of acquisition involves a high usability [8].



Figure 3 Non-invasive EEG electrode headset

 Magneto-encephalographic (MEG) acquisition is based on the recording of magnetic fields generated by electrical currents occurring in the brain, using extremely sensitive magnetometers. Arrays of superconducting quantum interference devices (SQUIDs) are currently the most common used magnetometers [9]. Its strengths consist in independence of head geometry, compared to EEG, use of non-ionizing radiation, as opposed to PET and high temporal resolution, as opposed to fMRI. The application of this particular acquisition technique has been successfully utilized in BCI applications [10], (Figure 4).



Figure 4 Patient in MEG scanner²

 Near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) signal acquisition is based on the near-infrared region of the electromagnetic spectrum. This technique is not particularly sensitive but it does not need probing bulk material with little or any sample preparation. The instrumentation is similar to interferometers and the signal can be measured either in reflection or transmission [11, 12], (Figure 5). NIRS signal acquisition allows to gather physiological information based on brain activity and on blood flow, combining information derived from electrical activity and reflection waves obtained by the interferometers [13].



Figure 5 NIRS equipment ³: panel A reports an image of the equipment usually utilized for NIRS application, panel B shows a schematic representation of the functioning of NIRS technology

² Edited from http://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/publications/neuroimaging-andmental-illness-a-window-into-the-brain/neuroimaging-faq_58327.pdf

³ Edited from https://www.researchgate.net/figure/273063367_fig3_Figure-6-Miniaturized-and-scalable-fNIRS-sensor-pad-with-2-optodes-can-be-integrated

Functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) signal acquisition is a functional neuroimaging using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) technology. This technique relies on the fact that blood flow and neuronal activation are coupled [14]. A specific brain activation can be measured and can be presented graphically, using a contrast medium, by colour-coding the strength of activation inside the region of interest [15], (Figure 6).



Figure 6 fMRI equipment and output imaging ⁴: panel A reports a sample signal acquisition using fMRI and panel B shows a schematic illustration of an fMRI. Panel C illustrates a sample brain imaging before the contrast medium and in panel D the same representation after the injection of the medium. Panel E reports the digital discretization derived from the previous steps.

1.3.2 Feature extraction and selection

BCIs utilize a heterogeneous set of signals as an input. These input structures need to be limited in number, in order to focus the analysis solely on significant features. The nature of the specific analysis has direct applications in feature selection. This is why it is necessary to extract specific characteristics that can highlight the inter-signal differences. A feature is a specific characteristic that explains the evolution of the signal. The information is structured in features. The features can rely on different domains, such as temporal, spatial, frequency, or a combination of the aforementioned.

For example, time domain features can be extracted from several different characteristics of the time domain signal, such as signal peak time or peak value in μ V. The second step involves the feature extraction

⁴ Edited from http://www.anc.ed.ac.uk/CFIS/projects/prosody/material/fMRI.htm

and the consequent feature selection. It is necessary to extract specific signal features that encode the user's intent, and these extracted features should have a strong correlation with the user's intent. The following phase contemplates the feature selection within the extracted features, in order to select the most significant features to characterize the differences between each one.

1.3.3 Classification

The third step involves the classification of each feature in order to provide a discrete group of tasks for the device that will actuate the command. The extracted features are listed and labelled according to the specific application, which can rely on the time or frequency domain, as anticipated before. The classification involves only the significant features. Within the selected features, only a restricted number of them is statistically different from the others and these features are useful to characterize the differences between brain activities related to different tasks.

1.3.4 Device control

The fourth step involves the final operation aimed to operate with an external device. As anticipated before, the output can be used to operate a spelling program on a computer screen through letter selection [16], to move a cursor on a screen [17], to drive a wheelchair or other assistive devices [18] [19], or even to be able to move a paralyzed arm through a neuroprosthesis [20].

1.4 Brain-Computer Interfaces based on EEG signals

In our analysis we utilized the EEG signal acquisition, because in this thesis we mainly focused on brain activity related to attentive tasks. This particular acquisition technique is well adaptable for research applications. Non-invasiveness and high temporal resolution are two of the most important aspects for the signal acquisition for our BCI system that will be introduced and described in the following sections. A brief descriptions of the typologies of signals that we utilized in this analysis is reported in Appendix.

1.4.1 State of the art of EEG-based BCI systems

The EEG provides one of the most applicable technique of brain signal acquisition. While MEG and fMRI require complex devices to perform a brain signal acquisition, an electroencephalograph requires lesser equipment in order to complete a single acquisition. ECoG technique too requires structures and even a surgical team to perform the surgical implantation. On the other hand, EEG acquisition is simple and does not require particular structures or items.

Electroencephalography signals, which are recorded from the scalp, provide high temporal resolution, although low spatial resolution. The spatial resolution is low because each electrode records and mediates electrical activity of a certain population of neurons.

On the other hand, temporal resolution is essential in order to transfer a series of information in reasonable time. Subjects expect any reaction from any command he/she sent to his/her body. This is why in BCI applications computer elaboration of each task ought to be similar in time reaction, especially when the end effector is mechanical.

Although EEG signals are affected by a low spatial resolution, the high usability and temporal resolution has made electroencephalographic acquisition one of the most used techniques for brain signal acquisition in BCI applications, [21].

1.4.2 Brain-Computer Interface typologies

As anticipated in the previous **Section 1.3.2**, BCI systems can find different applications, according to the specific purposes. One of the possible distinctions between different typologies of BCI systems involves the typology of the task that the user is asked to perform according to a specific stimulus. In BCI applications the term stimulus refers to an external event that affects brain activity.

For example, a stimulus could be an auditory stimulation that influences and perturbs the subject's state of rest. A flashing light or even a simple shaped object displayed on a screen, or even a more complex object can be used as a visual stimulus during an experiment. A BCI system that records the characteristic brain reaction due to an external stimulation is defined as passive or semi-passive. In other applications, the patient has to mentally focus on a determined task. In these BCI systems the subject has to perform a self-paced task in an active way. For example a motor imagery task could be to imagine to move one of his arms. In these typologies the patient is completely active, because the end-user is actually having an active role inside the BCI system. One of the differences between this system and the previous one lies in the fact that during motor imagery tasks, the user is acting to generate a specific reaction, on the other hand during external stimulations the subject is not acting but simply spectating.

According to the nature of the stimulus, several BCI systems were developed. The first example is called SSVEP–BCI, a BCI system based on steady–state visual evoked potentials (SSVEP). The subject has to focus on a flickering object at a certain frequency of flashing. According to the flickering frequency, a strong brain activity lies at this particular frequency.

Several studies showed that there is a strong frequency representation in brain activity, situated in the frequency range of the stimulus [22, 23]. An example of result representation is shown in Figure 7.



Figure 7 Schematic illustration of the signal amplitude of the SSVEP (at 7.5 Hz) and its 2nd and 3rd harmonics (at 15 Hz and 22.5 Hz) [34]

A second example of BCI system utilizes P300 evoked potentials as an input. This typology of BCI uses an external stimulus to evoke brain activity in the subject. The cognitive process is based on the paradigm: target vs. no-target. Whether a no-target stimulus takes place, brain activity does not show significant differences from the basal oscillatory resting trend. Whether a target stimulus occurs, brain activity presents a typical peak after 150 - 350 ms. Figure 8 is presents a sample illustration of the typical P300-BCI based results. A P300-BCI visual protocol contemplates a series of no-target stimuli, randomly alternated by target stimuli in lesser number. Technically, the target stimuli are defined as rare stimuli.



Figure 8 Sample of P300-BCI results. The representation includes a temporal focus, which illustrates the voltage amplitude averaged on all trials distinguished in target and non-target trials. The second panel shows the spatial relevance in terms of r^2 in a color scale starting from blue and moving towards red for higher relevance zones [1]

The third example is called SMR–BCI, a BCI system based on sensorymotor rhythms (SMR). This particular typology of BCI system relies on the fact that motor tasks and motor imagery tasks activate the same brain regions, in almost the same way. The motor imagery task performed by the subject produces a (de)synchronization of the motor cortex at 8 - 12 Hz.



Figure 9 Sample of (de) synchronization during SMR tasks. The representation illustrates the spectral focus, related to the de-synchronization due to the motor imagery task. In the frequency domain this involves an increase at the alpha band (around 10 Hz). In the second panel it is shown the relevance in terms of r^2 [1]

A computer is able to classify the patient's thoughts in order to move a robotic device [24]. This BCI typology is completely voluntary and presents a self-paced modulation on the sensory-motor cortex. The representation is in frequency, temporal and spatial domain (Figure 9). While the patient is thinking at a determined direction (i.e. motor imagery), the computer task is to control the robotic device according to the patient's brain activity.

1.5 Current trends in BCI development

In nowadays application of BCI systems, several differences can be found, starting from the signal acquisition and ending to the specific application in which the BCI system needs to fit in the best way according to the analysis object. Brain activity is connected to every different external stimulation and even to voluntary modulation in the case of self-paced tasks.

The present thesis project was developed at IAS Lab⁵ at the Department of Information engineering, where different BCI systems have been recently reviewed and produced, [25, 26]. In this thesis, we developed a BCI system application to evaluate brain activity connected to colour perception, in order to classify posteriorly what colour has been seen by the subject. Colour perception is an important aspect that influences visual perception in our everyday life. This is why we analysed the possibility of introduce a novel BCI system using different colours as an input for a BCI application.

⁵ IAS Lab website: *robotics.dei.unipd.it/*

Chapter 2: A novel Brain-Computer Interface based on colour perception

Colour is one of the most interesting aspects of visual perception. Each visual information is perceived at the beginning, thanks to the visual system which comprehends eyes, retina, optical nerves, and then it is transferred toward the cortex of the occipital lobe.

Since humans are able to distinguish between different colours, we can formulate the hypothesis that the different colour perception could be found also in differences in brain activity. In this chapter we will introduce the basic aspects related to colour perception.

2.1 Colour perception

Colour vision is the ability of an organism or machine to distinguish objects based on the wavelengths (or frequencies) of the light they reflect, emit, or transmit.

Colours can be measured and quantified in various ways; indeed, a person's perception of colours is a subjective process whereby the brain responds to the stimuli that are produced when incoming light reacts with the several types of cone cells in the eye. The brain region responsible for visual perception is situated in the visual cortex. A schematic representation is reported in Figure 10.



Figure 10 Schematic representation of human brain, at the back the occipital lobe is highlighted. The Primary Visual Cortex (V1) is highlighted in yellow, while the Dorsal and Ventral Stream is illustrated in light green ⁶

Cones and rods decode visual information into electrical activity for the brain. The first ones are responsible for colour vision and the latter ones are responsible for light changing. Cones are less sensitive to light, rather than rods, but cone cells responds faster to visual stimuli than rod cells. This means that a substantial difference in these colours could be found also in early evoked potentials, as already demonstrated in early studies [27, 28, 29].

The ventral stream is associated with form recognition and object representation. This area is also linked with the storage of the long-term memory. The dorsal stream is associated with motion, object locations, control of arms and eyes, for example the saccade (a quick and simultaneous eye movement for scanning), [30, 31]. Colour perception is addressed in the primary visual cortex and the differences between colours are related to the different wavelengths of light that mark each colour. An illustrative model has been developed since the XVIII century, and it is called colour wheel.

A colour wheel is an abstract illustrative representation of the organization of colour hues, in a circular shape that shows the relationships between primary colours, secondary and so on. According to the colour wheel (Figure 11), yellow and green are positioned on the same side of the wheel, while magenta is positioned at the opposite.

⁶ Edited from http://www.neuroscientificallychallenged.com/glossary/visualcortex/

Moreover, yellow and green colours used in this experiment had a similar luminance, while magenta was darker. Leaving aside colour wheel theories, physiologically our ocular receptors reacts differently depending on certain visual stimuli.



Figure 11 Colour Wheel 7

2.2 BCI systems based on coloured stimuli

Colour is a fundamental aspect of perception and could be used as an input for BCIs. Some studies analysed the effect of different colours in brain activity. Increased beta and decreased alpha power were observed when the subjects were exposed to blue and red light than to dark stimuli, [32].

These studies reported that the alpha and beta powers were larger for red stimuli rather than blue stimuli. All considerations were made analysing the statistical signal differences between different coloured flashing stimuli. These results led to confirm that different brainwave frequencies can be utilized to highlight the statistical differences found in coloured inputs, even analysing brain activity related to the perception of a coloured stimulation.

In another study, a game has been developed to test whether these statistical differences were relevant enough for online BCI application, [33]. This game was based on an arithmetic choice question, in which a

⁷ Edited from http://www.artyfactory.com/color_theory/color_terms_1.htm

2.3 A new BCI system

BCI was implemented to decode users' attention to the colour stimulus and determine their intended choice.

The possibility of using our colour perception in order to classify correctly the difference in colours, thanks to the difference in brain activity, has been analysed and led to important results and considerations, [32, 33]. These considerations allowed us to introduce another brick to this new field of analysis in BCI applications: the possibility of using our colour perception as an input for a BCI system, with the difference that we utilized a non-flashing stimulation but the sustained attention to a coloured element. Furthermore, we utilized two different aspects related to colour perception. The first is linked to the evoked potentials triggered by the appearance of a coloured element, while the second is the self-paced attention to the colour that appeared.

2.3 A new BCI system

Conversely from SSVEP-BCI studies [32, 33], based on flashing coloured stimuli, in lots of situations we face non–flashing colours. This is why we wanted to analyse how static colour stimuli affected brain response. Our work concerned two different analysis: the characteristic evoked potential and the sustained attention to a coloured element.

In our study, we developed a BCI system based on colour-dependent visual attention. The main purpose of our work was to create a BCI system, able to recognize if a subject is focusing on a certain colour or on another one. This work, focused on designing a new experimental protocol, aimed to highlight two different reactions due to coloured stimuli.

We analysed the visual evoked potential, triggered by the appearance of a coloured rectangular element inside the subject's field of view. The display of each coloured rectangular element activates an evoked potential. Our work focused on classifying whether a colour belonged to one specific class or to another one.

Our analysis focused also on the second period, in which the evoked potential phase was assumable as accomplished. In this second period of each trial the rectangular element presented a constant speed, though different, in each trial. We defined this phase as sustained attention. We performed a frequency analysis with the purpose of discriminating our classes. Unlike previous studies, our work combined two different typologies of analysis in order to better characterize how the comparison of a coloured element affects brain activity. To do so, we split our focus into two different time regions of the EEG signal: a first phase in which we analysed visual evoked potentials and a second phase in which we analysed the voluntary sustained attention to the coloured stimulus, with similarity to SMR-BCI voluntary motor imagery tasks.

2.4 Aim of the thesis and summary of contents

A few studies proved the existence of different neural correlations associated to colour perception in human brain [34, 35]. This phenomenon can be observed both in a change of the characteristic reaction due to the coloured stimulus, which is situated in earlier evoked potentials, and in a second phase of sustained attention [36, 37, 38].

In this last phase, the temporal evolution of the evoked potential has run out. Which means that the neural correlates mainly depend to the colour perception in the sustained attention phase.

This thesis combines two different perception aspects and two different potential inputs for a BCI system: the first phase, in which we analysed visual evoked potentials, is connected to the second phase. In the sustained attention phase we evaluated a voluntary task of attention, in a similar way respect to the usual analysis for motor imagery tasks in SMR-BCIs.

In chapter 3, we discuss the main purposes for this analysis, introducing a new brain-computer interface based on colour dependent visual attention. Then, the experimental design details are presented, aside with the participant characteristics, the experimental protocol submitted to all subjects and, finally, we report the data organisation after acquisition, then used for all analysis. At last we provide a description of the hypothesis utilized in this work.

In chapter 4, we present all methods used in this experiment, including the data processing procedures implemented in time and frequency domain. In chapter 5, we report the final results, obtained in time and frequency analysis. Deriving results are characterized to the purpose of better highlighting possible future applications and considerations. The last chapter comprehends the conclusions and future applications related to this thesis results. Finally we report the appendix for the neurophysiology of the EEG signals. 2.4 Aim of the thesis and summary of contents

Chapter 3: Experimental Design

3.1 Signal acquisition

Scalp EEG was recorded using a 16-channel electrode system developed by G-tech. This system included 1 electrode used as reference and positioned in the left ear, 1 electrode used as ground reference and 16 scalp electrodes. All 16 electrodes were sampled at 512 *Hz*, with a notch filter at 50 *Hz* to remove power supply interference. The electrode positioning was set in order to record electrical activity derived from the parieto-occipital lobe where visual perception is addressed, as described in the previous chapter.

According to international 10-20 configuration, the location of these electrodes was:

Cz, *CPz*, *CP*1, *CP*2, *CP*3, *CP*4, *Pz*, *P*1, *P*2, *P*3, *P*4, *POz*, *PO*1, *PO*2, *PO*3, *PO*4.



Figure 12 Scalp electrode positioning

The specific experimental set up is presented in Table 1. We utilized three classes, corresponding to the three different colours utilized in trials. For each class we presented fifteen trials per class, for a total trials

3.2 Participants

per class of forty-five. The experiment consisted in four runs per session, with an overall trial number of one hundred and eighty trials.

Table 1 Experimental information

Classes	3
Trials per class	15
Trials per run	45
Runs per session	4
Total trial number	180

3.2 Participants

Ten healthy volunteers (25,9 \pm 1,79 years old, 3 females, [s1 - s10]) with normal or corrected normal vision participated in this study. Moreover, no subject was affected by colour blindness which was a basic requirement for a colour based analysis.

3.3 Visual paradigm

During this experiment, a volunteer sat comfortably on a chair, which was positioned 0.5 m in front of a 21 - inch LCD monitor. At the beginning, on black background, a white square frame was presented. In the centre of this frame was positioned a fixation point, represented by a cross symbol, draw in white. Then, a series of coloured rectangles appeared one by one after a random time of waiting. To avoid brain habituation phenomenon, each rectangle speed was randomized. All rectangles appeared on the right of the subject, moving right to the left. A trial example is illustrated in Figure 13. All subjects were instructed to focus their attention to the fixation point and the subjects' task was to click in appearance and in disappearance instants of a coloured rectangle. Once the coloured rectangle appeared inside the square frame, the subjects had to concentrate to the specific colour displayed in that trial. A few tips were given to all subjects to better understand this request. A first way to focus at a certain colour was to associate this colour to a specific object that represented, for the subject, the best match with that colour. For example, for a yellow rectangle one could associate the sun, a lemon, a banana and so on. Another way was to mentally fill a wall with the specific colour that appeared during that trial. After a test run, all subjects were asked to choose a way to fulfil the

mental task of focusing to the colour and to keep using it during the experiment.



Figure 13 Trial example. Left to right: initial trial square with black background and the fixation point drawn in white, appearance of the coloured element, sustained attention phase in which the element is flowing right to left, disappearance of the element.

This visual protocol was developed specifically for this experiment in C++ code. Trial average duration, i.e. the time duration between the appearance and disappearance of the coloured rectangle, was set to be averagely around 3 *s* for all trials, ([$3000 \pm 53,46$] *ms*). The sequence comprehends the initial time instant at t = 0s, after an initial waiting time around 1 *s* there is the trial start the duration of which is approximately around 3 *s*. Then, according to the specific rectangle speed of that particular trial, there is a consequent waiting time in order to keep the trial duration averagely around 5 *s*, ([$5000 \pm 91,23$] *ms*). Figure 14 illustrates the schematic execution of one trial.



Figure 14 Sample trial sequence. The first step corresponds to the trial start, then after t=1s there is the appearance instant of the coloured element. Each element flowed right to left for approximately 3s. At t=4s each element exited the white frame, then we presented only the black background and the white frame for a waiting time around 1s. The two mouse images recall that in the appearance and disappearance instants the subject had to click with a mouse.

3.3 Visual paradigm

Chapter 4: Data Processing

4.1 Time domain analysis

4.1.1 Pre-processing

In the time domain analysis we selected a time window of 1000 *ms*, after the appearance instant of the coloured element (i.e. trial start), in order to evaluate the early evoked potentials due to the appearance of the coloured rectangle.

All data were sampled at 512 Hz and then filtered with a 4^{th} order Butterworth pass-band filter at 1–50 Hz. Consequently, a common average reference (CAR) spatial filtering was applied to all data. CAR spatial filtering technique is based on scaling all data with the common average, computed on all channels.

The common average is obtained mediating all electrode signals and this particular spatial filter utilize all headset electrodes. A representative image of the CAR spatial filtering technique is reported in Figure 15.



Figure 15 Common Average Reference Spatial Filtering

Fault trials were excluded before spatial filtering. Fault trial selection was based on a basic check, comparing the single trial with an amplitude set to $100 \ \mu V$. Trials that presented a signal amplitude over this threshold were rejected.

4.1.2 Feature extraction and selection

We selected four most significant parameters directly from the filtered EEG signals, within [0 - 1] s:

- Peak-Value (PV): this parameter evaluated the highest EEG amplitude of the positive peak during the evoked potential phase.
- Peak-Time (PT): this parameter evaluated the time delay between the initial trial time and the time instant in which was positioned the Peak-Value.
- Sum-Value (SV): this parameter evaluated a simple numerical integration of the signal, based on the sum of the EEG signals calculated on all time samples.
- Energy (E): this parameter evaluated the signal energy, computed on all time samples, using a simple numerical integration, based on the sum of the EEG power signals calculated on all time samples.

Starting from this configuration, we utilized these parameters to perform the feature selection. This step is essential, because the number of significant features is always a sub-set of all extracted features. For example in this case, the total number of extracted features was 64, resulting from four parameters per sixteen channels. The use of the total number of features would lead to implement an over fitting classifier that hardly would be useful for the testing phase. In addition, feature selection allows to identify only the discriminative features (taskrelated). To do so, we used task-related observations to build discriminative metrics that was used as basis to the next analysis. To perform the feature selection, we utilized the canonical variate analysis (CVA), [39]. Given the feature matrix F, defined as [observations x features], the CVA projects all data on a canonical space of dimension k-1, where k is the class cardinality. At this point the Discriminant Power (DP) is computed for each feature:

$$DP_e = \left(\sum_{u=1}^{k-1} \gamma_u t_{eu}^2 / \sum_{e=1}^{c} \sum_{u=1}^{k-1} \gamma_u t_{eu}^2\right) \cdot 100$$

According to DP results, we can select the most discriminative features. Figure 16 illustrates an example of the computing of feature selection in this analysis, for subject s1. The result of CVA gives a 2-D map of the statistic relevance of each feature compared to the others. In the x-axis we report the parameters, while in the y-axis the different channels of the EEG headset.



Figure 16 CVA/DP example for subject: s1. Legend: PV = peak value; PT = peak time; SV = sum value; E = energy.

These three panels (Figure 16) represent the results derived from the CVA analysis. On the x-axis we report the four parameters utilized for feature extraction, while on the y-axis the 16 channels utilized. The black circles represent the selected features according to the statistical differences highlighted by the CVA method. The colour bar on the right is related to the discriminant power computed using the CVA. The lowest values are represented in blue and gradually towards the red scale the highest values.

4.1.3 Classification

According to CVA results we classified all data verifying whether a single trial was classified correctly or not, and we computed a basic overall accuracy for all colour couples, Green vs. Yellow, Yellow vs. Magenta and Green vs. Magenta. The overall accuracy for each colour couple was based on the count of correct labelled trials by the classifier on the whole number of trials for that colour couple. The classification accuracy (ACC) was computed following a confusion matrix *C*, where its elements C_{ij} indicate how many samples of class *i* have been predicted as class *j*. The accuracy can be derived thanks to the following equation, where *N* represents the number of trials and *M* is the number of classes (M = 2).

$$ACC = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{M} c_{ii}}{N}$$

4.2 Frequency domain analysis

4.2.1 Pre-processing

In the second phase, as anticipated before, we evaluated the voluntary attention to the coloured stimulus. We called this second time phase as sustained attention phase. Assuming at first that all evoked potentials were accomplished, it is reasonable to think that during this phase the only contribution to EEG signals is due to the colour attention from the subject.

The pre-processing procedure involved at first a spatial filtering of all data using a Laplacian spatial filter. This spatial filter involves a local approach of filtering. The Laplacian spatial filter procedure utilizes the neighbour electrodes to operate the filtering. Figure 17 illustrate one step of the Laplacian filtering.



Figure 17 Laplacian spatial filtering. In red is represented the filter output channel and in green the neighbour channels utilized to compute the spatial local filtering

We selected from filtered data, a series of time windows in which we computed the power spectral densities (PSD) using the Welch's method. The time window duration was set at 1 s, while the step for overlapping was set at 32 samples, corresponding to 0.0625 s. The significant frequencies for our analysis lied within [4 - 48] Hz. Conventionally, all frequencies were gathered with a resolution of 2 Hz.

The significant time region was within [1.2 - 3]s. Selecting this time period, we were relatively sure not to consider the evoked potential regions, due to the appearance and disappearance of the coloured rectangle elements. Then we concatenated all PSD windows.

At this point we selected all PSD windows related to trial start events. Figure 18 reports an example of PSD signal for subject *s*2. Each frame illustrates the average PSD signal, mediated on all trials for each channel.

At this point, we selected a baseline period of one second before the starting trial event in order to compute the event-related (de)synchronization (ERD/ERS) of the signal. This step is usually performed in SMR-BCI pre-processing [40]. The computation of the ERD/ERS of the signals is reported in the following formula:

$$ERD/ERS(f,c,w) = \frac{PSD(f,c,w) - PSD_{baseline}(f,c)}{PSD_{baseline}(f,c)}$$

Where the three parameters are f frequency, c channels and w windows respectively. Figure 19 illustrates an ERD/ERS computation example for subject s2.







Figure 19 Mean PSD ERD/ERS signals on all trials, example with subject s2

4.2.2 Feature extraction and selection

We extracted each feature according to the correspondence between the time instant of trial start and the respective time window in which the PSD was computed. At this stage, the feature structure was a couple [frequency x channel], which means that we extracted the features inside the sustained attention period. Feature selection was computed via CVA, using as an input for the selection the ERD/ERS signal, which was obtained before. We set a minimum and a maximum number of selected features according to CVA results.

4.2.3 Classification

We developed a specific classifier based on a linear discriminant analysis, which explicitly attempts to model the differences between the two classes of data. Then we utilized a Bayesian approach to prior information. We used the posterior probabilities, derived from the first time analysis, as priors to the frequency testing classification.

At this final step, we computed an overall accuracy estimation, using different basic accuracy computation techniques. We utilized a counting of correct labelled trials compared to all trials, the integration of the posterior probabilities, the mean value of post probabilities, the last probability derived from probability accumulation framework analysis and the maximum value derived from the probability accumulation framework analysis.

The accumulation framework technique operates an exponential smoothing, based on the following formulation:

$$D(t) = D(t-1) \cdot \alpha + D(t) \cdot (1-\alpha)$$

This formula recursively utilizes the precedent value for the computation of the following step, weighting it in different ways. The weight is represented by the parameter α : using $\alpha = 0$, the weight of the precedent step is nullified, using $\alpha = 1$, the weight of the actual step is nullified and the precedent step completely influences the actual step. Varying this parameter it is possible to enhance the level of smoothing.

This technique is called exponential smoothing. It is a recursive technique that allows to perform a smoothing filtering to data, acting like a low-pass filter to remove high frequency noise [41].

Chapter 5: Results

In this chapter we present the results of this thesis. The chapter is composed of two different domain results related to the two different analysis that have been conducted. The first sub-chapter deals with the time analysis results, in which we evaluated the effects of the colour stimulus in regards to the early evoked potentials. In the second subchapter we discuss the results obtained from the sustained attention phase.

5.1 Time domain analysis results

The time domain analysis highlighted the presence of an early evoked potential component in all subjects. An example is shown in Figure 20 for subject s2. The utilized colours are reported in this illustration, according to the three classes used in this experiment. In green we reported the average values related to green trials for each channel. In yellow we reported the average values related to yellow trials for each channel. In magenta we reported the average values related to magenta trials for each channel.

A few different aspects characterized EEG signals, according to the presentation of a specific type of colour. For example, there's a difference both in amplitude and in delay time between the three classes of the positive peak of the evoked potential.

By visual inspection these differences are not easy to be detected. In the parieto-occipital channels we highlighted the presence of the visual evoked potential related to the coloured stimuli, while in channel *Cz* we highlighted the presence of a P300 component.



38

Anyway, the presence of these differences is perceptible when observed focusing on a single channel, in Figure 21 we report an example of a single channel (*PO3*) EEG signal mediated on all trials for subject s2.



Figure 21 Time differences, subject s2, channel PO3. The three different colours represent the three different classes of colours utilized in the protocol: green for green trials, yellow for yellow trials and magenta for magenta trials.

In the testing phase we evaluated four different parameters, in order to perform the feature selection and feature extraction. These parameters were Peak-value (PV), Peak-time (PT), Sum-value (SV) and Energy (E).

During the testing phase, we evaluated the different contributes derived from each parameter in different configurations:

- Using all four parameters
- Using three parameters, commuting the excluded one
- Using one parameter at the time.

For each of these configurations we calculated an overall accuracy of classification using a feature number within [1-10].

In order to better evaluate what was the best parameter configuration, we tested all configurations. Table 2 represents the results that brought us to utilize the four parameter configuration. In the x-axis we can find the different configurations: using all four parameters, excluding one parameter at the time and using all parameters separately.

Excluding one parameter at the time did not bring any significant improvement and the contribution of each single parameter configuration was definitely worst in terms of overall accuracy.

5.1 Time domain analysis results

We present the results for subject s6 as an example, for each couple of classes and for all configurations. Those results are divided by the colour comparisons, Green vs. Yellow, Yellow vs. Magenta and Green vs. Magenta. We used the information derived from time analysis to provide an accurate feature selection.

The Table consists in three sub-tables, the first one reports the results for the comparison between the Green vs. the Yellow class (G vs. Y), the second for Yellow vs. Magenta (Y vs. M), and finally the third between the Green vs. Magenta class (G vs. M).

The colour scale in the Table 2 assigns the green colour to the best performance percentage value inside the whole set and the red colour to the worst performance inside the whole set.

Table 2 Accuracy time results,

G vs. Y = Green vs. Yellow class, Y vs. M = Yellow vs. Magenta class, G vs. M = Green vs. Magenta class.

G vs. Y	PV PT SV E	PT SV E	PV SV E	PV PT E	PV PT SV	PV	PT	SV	Е
1	62,2%	62,2%	62,2%	58,9%	62,2%	58,9%	58,9%	62,2%	54,4%
2	62,2%	61,1%	62,2%	61,1%	62,2%	61,1%	54,4%	56,7%	58,9%
3	61,1%	55,6%	61,1%	62,2%	61,1%	57,8%	53,3%	54,4%	56,7%
4	63,3%	55,6%	63,3%	60,0%	58,9%	56,7%	55,6%	54,4%	53,3%
5	62,2%	55,6%	62,2%	58,9%	63,3%	57,8%	54,4%	58,9%	63,3%
6	64,4%	58,9%	64,4%	58,9%	61,1%	64,4%	53,3%	57,8%	62,2%
7	66,7%	66,7%	66,7%	60,0%	60,0%	62,2%	50,0%	56,7%	60,0%
8	63,3%	66,7%	62,2%	55,6%	62,2%	58,9%	50,0%	57,8%	53,3%
9	63,3%	70,0%	65,6%	57,8%	60,0%	56,7%	50,0%	58,9%	50,0%
10	65,6%	67,8%	67,8%	60,0%	62,2%	54,4%	46,7%	55,6%	57,8%
Y vs. M	PV PT SV E	PT SV E	PV SV E	PV PT E	PV PT SV	PV	РТ	SV	Е
1	63,3%	63,3%	60,0%	63,3%	63,3%	55,6%	63,3%	60,0%	56,7%
2	61,1%	61,1%	62,2%	64,4%	61,1%	53,3%	61,1%	62,2%	56,7%
3	64,4%	64,4%	62,2%	58,9%	64,4%	55,6%	61,1%	61,1%	57,8%
4	61,1%	63,3%	58,9%	65,6%	61,1%	51,1%	61,1%	58,9%	50,0%
5	62,2%	60,0%	55,6%	63,3%	62,2%	53,3%	58,9%	56,7%	56,7%
6	63,3%	58,9%	56,7%	63,3%	62,2%	52,2%	57,8%	53,3%	53,3%
7	63,3%	62,2%	58,9%	63,3%	61,1%	52,2%	57,8%	51,1%	54,4%
8	62,2%	61,1%	55,6%	63,3%	58,9%	50,0%	60,0%	50,0%	53,3%
9	57,8%	60,0%	54,4%	61,1%	56,7%	52,2%	56,7%	52,2%	51,1%
10	63,3%	62,2%	53,3%	58,9%	58,9%	47,8%	58,9%	51,1%	53,3%
G vs. M	PV PT SV E	PT SV E	PV SV E	PV PT E	PV PT SV	PV	PT	SV	Е
1	67,8%	67,8%	67,8%	62,2%	67,8%	60,0%	62,2%	67,8%	63,3%
2	67,8%	67,8%	70,0%	66,7%	67,8%	58,9%	66,7%	70,0%	61,1%
3	64,4%	64,4%	65,6%	62,2%	64,4%	54,4%	62,2%	70,0%	60,0%
4	68,9%	68,9%	64,4%	60,0%	68,9%	64,4%	60,0%	65,6%	60,0%
5	67,8%	67,8%	61,1%	58,9%	67,8%	60,0%	58,9%	61,1%	52,2%
6	65,6%	65,6%	57,8%	65,6%	65,6%	58,9%	63,3%	57,8%	51,1%
7	63,3%	63,3%	57,8%	63,3%	63,3%	58,9%	62,2%	58,9%	51,1%
8	72,2%	72,2%	63,3%	63,3%	67,8%	57,8%	63,3%	54,4%	50,0%
9	71,1%	71,1%	61,1%	64,4%	62,2%	56,7%	62,2%	58,9%	54,4%
10	68.9%	66.7%	58.9%	64.4%	63.3%	57.8%	61.1%	57.8%	52.2%

After the preliminary considerations explained above, we selected a coherent number of features according to the best accuracy results in the first configuration. In Figure 22 we reported the accuracy results for all subjects, in the best configuration selecting the subject-specific number of features. For all subjects, the accuracies computed reached an average of 64.6% for the Green vs. Yellow couple, 64.2% for the Yellow vs. Magenta couple and 65.9% for the last Green vs. Magenta couple.





It is noteworthy that these overall accuracies were computed gathering basic information from the EEG signals. The inter-subject variability in terms of colour perception is noticeable, but an interesting aspect that emerged from these results is that each subject, on average, reacted differently comparing the different colour couple presented during the experiment.

We found that on average each subject presented two comparison classes that were classified better than the third one. Anyway, average results confirm that all overall accuracies live stably over 60% of accuracy, in most cases over 65% and reaching accuracy peaks over 70%.

According to these results, we utilized the best configuration for each subject to improve the specific results in the following sustained attention phase. We extracted the posterior-probabilities gathered using the best configuration as priors for the frequency analysis.

5.2 Frequency domain analysis results

As anticipated before, we utilized a Bayesian approach to the frequency analysis in the sustained attention phase. In addition, we selected three different time instants to better evaluate how the sustained attention evolved during the second phase of the trial. We kept a one-second window, in which we analysed the PSD, varying the starting position of the window. In details:

PeriodStart = 10	PeriodStart = 15	PeriodStart = 20
[0.625 – 1.625] <i>s</i>	[0.9375 – 1.9375] <i>s</i>	[1.25 – 2.25] <i>s</i>

Figure 23 reports, for each subject, the overall accuracy grouped by colour and plotting the differences in the three different PeriodStarts.

A preliminary consideration is that all accuracies have been enhanced at least by a 5%, while for some subjects these accuracies improved to a further 10%, respect to the time analysis results. This means that for some subjects (s 1-6 and s9), the final overall accuracy lies within 70% and 75%.

This representation illustrates that each subject reacts differently to each colour and the sustained attention brain activity varies during the second trial period. Some subjects focus better during the beginning of the sustained attention phase, while others focus better after a few time instants.



Figure 23 Frequency analysis results; 1stpanel: PeriodStart = 0.625 s, all class couples; 2ndpanel: PeriodStart = 0.9375 s, all class couples; 3rd panel: PeriodStart = 1.25 s, all class couples;

Figure 24 reports the average values, calculated on all subjects for each period and for each colour couple. These average values are grouped by each time section for the signal and in each bin are presented the mean values for each colour, including the standard deviations.



Figure 24 Frequency analysis results, mean accuracy results. In blue is reported the average accuracy value, mediated on all subjects, for the couple G vs. Y, while in light green is reported the mean accuracy value for the couple Y vs. M, and finally in red for the couple G vs. M. Each bin comprehends the specific deviation standard values for that couple.

Figure 25 reports the accuracy trend, respect to the starting position of the sustained attention period. It contains three frames, each frame presents the accuracy results for each colour couple. For each subject, in each bin there are the three accuracy results derived from the three different PeriodStarts. This Figure illustrates the time evolution of classification accuracy, varying the selected window for frequency analysis in the sustained attention period.





5.3 Discussions

In order to be able to estimate the reliability of a new method, it is necessary to follow some standard signal processing stages. One of these standards is the use of a cross-validation statistic when presenting offline classification results. [42]

Related to this observation, the meaningful way to present classification accuracies is to couple these results with the number of trials on which the computations are based. In the article presented by Müller-Putz et al [43], they showed the theoretical confidence limits of a chance result for a 2-class BCI system. Using a number of trials of 120, the confidence

5.3 Discussions

limits of a chance result with a 2-class paradigm are within 60% and 65%.

Our results are positioned above these guide lines. In fact, in Figure 32 we reported the average accuracy results mediated on all subjects and on all analysed period of sustained attention, with an accuracy within 63% and 65%. In our analysis we utilized 60 trials per class, for a total number of trials of 180. Having a 2-way classifier, we used 120 trials per couple of classes.

Chapter 6: Conclusions 6.1 Summary of the work

The aim of this work was to develop a novel BCI system, which utilized as an input brain activity signals related to colour perception in a nonflashing stimulation, utilizing two different aspects: the visual evoked potential and the self-paced visual sustained attention to the coloured stimulation.

Our work focused on two different aspects of colour perception in healthy subjects. The first aspect is related to the visual evoked potential triggered by a coloured stimulus. This aspect was confirmed by the results and verified the first hypothesis, which means that a specific colour stimulus evokes a specific brain reaction situated in the early evoked potential components, as described in literature in different articles [32, 33].

Our results show that there is a statistical difference in the three colours utilized in this experiment: Green, Yellow and Magenta. We obtained an average accuracy of 65% mediating on all subjects, with peaks around 70%. Another important aspect is that we highlighted the intra-subject difference, in regards to the specific colour perception. Each subject reacts differently when we present a specific coloured stimulus and his reaction presents specific characteristic that allow to discriminate what colour the subject has just seen.

The second aspect is related to the sustained attention phase. After the conclusion of the evoked potential phase, the focusing of each subject on a specific colour can effectively be used as an input for a BCI system, at least for offline classification. Using prior information derived from the time analysis, we verified the second hypothesis which is related to the presence of significant differences in a self-paced task of attention to a coloured stimulation.

Especially for the couples Green vs. Yellow and Green vs. Magenta, we obtained an average accuracy of 65% non-distinguishing between

6.2 Further considerations

different periods during the sustained attention phase and mediating on all subjects, but differentiating our focus on different sections of the sustained attention phase, we evaluated several overall accuracies, for each period, around and above 70%.

The possibility of classifying correctly which colour stimulus occurred is strictly connected to the presence of neural correlates, depending to the specific colour stimulus. Leaving aside inter-subject differences, our results show that, during the sustained attention phase, a frequency analysis can lead to a correct classification with peaks around 75% and averagely around 68%.

In this analysis we evaluated overall accuracies by testing the colour perception reaction in a set of ten subjects. Further applications of this methodology should utilize a more numerous number of subjects, in order to evaluate a more solid population trend for a BCI system based on colour dependent visual attention. In addition, our results showed the possibility of using this BCI system for online applications.

We believe that using a 64-channel headset or a headset with a higher number of external electrodes would lead to more accurate results.

6.2 Further considerations

In order to evaluate the possibility of classification starting from biological signals, an offline approach may be an easier way to better understand whether a signal type could be used as an input for a BCI system or not. Although offline results may help to provide a path towards online application for BCI systems, if offline analysis won't lead to promising results then it would not be necessary to investigate furthermore with an online analysis.

This experiment evaluated principally how a colour stimulus affects brain activity, not only in the evoked potential phase, but also during the sustained attention phase.

The importance of this offline analysis lies in the different approach between precedent studies. The combination of evoked potential analysis and the voluntary attention tasks is one of the most interesting aspects of this analysis. In addition the use of basic and standard evaluation methods during the analysis can lead to further and more complex classifications of this particular phenomenon. Furthermore, this experiment could be performed eventually also by subjects affected by epilepsy, while a SSVEP-BCI could not be applicable to these subjects without any precautions. Whether a subject, affected by epilepsy, performs a series of trials in a SSVEP-BCI application, the possibility of an epilepsy attack are not so remote. Which means that the application of a SSVEP protocol should be performed foreseeing the necessity of a medical structure in the case of an epileptic subject. On the other hand, our visual paradigm can be performed by any kind of subjects and it does not need particular specimens to be performed.

6.3 Future applications

This project started in parallel with the Cybathlon Project, a championship for robot-assisted parathletes that will take place in October, 8th, 2016 in Zurich. In particular, IAS Lab will participate as a Team Leader of WHi Team (wearable hybrid interface). This BCI race involves three possible commands and the functioning is based on the SMR-BCI. These three different classes are presented to the parathletes thanks to different colours inside the run itself. These colours are green, yellow and magenta. This is why we utilized the same three colours in our BCI colour-dependent visual attention system.

The stand-alone application of a colour-based BCI is not yet applicable in real life situations, but the most interesting application can be found in a synergy context. Several BCI systems find their place in BCI applications as a parallel tool for other more tried out BCI systems; in these cases it has been coined the term "Hybrid-BCI" [44, 45].

Colour dependent BCI systems could work aside with other BCI systems in order to parallel improve results. This Hybrid-BCI system could be composed by a colour dependent BCI and a motor imagery BCI. For example, in the Cybathlon Project, mentioned in the previous chapters, a colour recognition could improve the MI results in classification, as an additional accuracy check even in real time applications.

Several future applications can be imagined for the use of this technique. This BCI system could be a tool not only in the field of disability, but also for healthy subjects. Nowadays several technologies have been introduced inside vehicles [46], for example parking sensors, emergency obstacle breaking systems, and so on. An online colour based BCI system could be a powerful addition for better recognizing what is happening in the outside environment.

6.3 Future applications

Other possible applications could be in the world of entertainment. Always working aside with other systems, a colour based BCI system could provide a further choice during gaming experiences, for example shooting in a shooting game or could provide effectively a higher control for sport gaming.

One of the most important concepts that this thesis highlighted is that it is really possible to utilize the subject's colour perception, in order to say what colour has been seen by the subject. In addition, the voluntary selfpaced task of focus at a colour provides a quite consistent signal that can be used as an input for a BCI system and this result can be precursive for an online application.

Appendix

Neurophysiology of the EEG signal

1 Neurons

All brain activity and all typologies of communication between our brain and the rest of our body relies on neuron cells. A neuron is an electrically excitable cell that transfers information through electrical and chemical signals [1]. Figure A1 reports a schematic representation of a neuron.



Figure A1 Schematic representation of a neuron⁸

A neuron consists of a cell body, called soma, dendrites, and an axon. The seconds are the branched projections of the neural cell; their function is

⁸ Edited from http://www.appsychology.com/Book/Biological/neuroscience.htm

Neurophysiology of the EEG signal

to provide linkage between other neurons or even between other kinds of cells, for example muscular cells.

These cell protrusions act to propagate the electrochemical stimulation received from other neural cells to the cell body. The signal is then transferred to the axon. Its role typically is to conduct all electrical impulses away from the cell body [2] towards another receiving cell.

Brain cells are electrically excitable, as mentioned before, and changes in the cross-membrane voltage over a certain threshold can trigger the generation of an action potential. This signal travels rapidly along the cell's axon and then activates synaptic connections with other cells. In Figure A2 we reported the principal schematic representations for neuron signal transmission, with emphasis on electrical impulses and on neurotransmitter molecule mechanism for the propagation of the action potentials.



Figure A2 Schematic representation of a signal propagation between neurons⁹

⁹ Edited from https://www.nia.nih.gov/alzheimers/publication/alzheimers-diseaseunraveling-mystery/preface

Signal transmission occurs via synapses. The transmission of information is conveyed thanks to action potentials. An action potential is a short-lasting event in which the electrical potential of the cell membrane rapidly rises and falls, following a consistent pattern of trajectory [3].

2 EEG signals

EEG signals consist in the recording of variations and fluctuations of electric potentials, gathered from the scalp in a non-invasive way. The EEG signals reflect the real-time mass action of neural networks from a certain neuron population [4]. The possibility of recording in a real-time way brain activity has been determining to extend the knowledge about brain perception and even human emotions. This is why they provide a direct window onto human brain functioning [5, 6]. On the other hand, recording the electrical activity of a population of neurons in a specific brain region cannot provide an accurate measure. The direct consequence is the low spatial resolution, but this cons is not a strict limitation. Time resolution is far more important to effectively understand the functioning of brain in most of cases. Figure A3 illustrates an example of an EEG acquisition.



Figure A3 Sample EEG signals¹⁰

¹⁰ Edited from http://www.brainfactor.it/?p=1852

External events stimulate our brain in different ways, according to the typology of the stimulation. Whether these stimulations are sensed, they provoke different electrical activities in different brain regions. In most cases, an external sensorial stimulation can be auditory or visual.

For example, the visual presentation of a particular object can evoke a particular brain activity or even an auditory presentation of a certain sound can induce in the subject a peculiar reaction, reflected in the brain activity. The particular structure of functioning of brain signal transmission, directly implicates that brain activity has a characteristic oscillatory trend, which is composed by different wave signals.

3 Brain rhythms

Neural oscillations are divided in different waves according to the specific frequency of oscillation. In human brain, there are four principal brain rhythms that are easily identifiable: *delta, theta, alpha* and *beta* rhythms.

The first neural oscillations are called *delta waves*. A delta wave is a high amplitude brain wave with a frequency of oscillation between [0-4] Hz. They are usually associated with the deep stage 3 of NREM sleep, also known as slow-wave sleep (SWS), and aid in characterizing the depth of sleep. Figure A4 illustrates a typical trend for a delta wave rhythm.



The second neural oscillations are called *theta waves*. Their frequency band is situated within [4-7] *Hz*. Theta waves are mainly present in childhood at the age of 1 up to 6 years and their presence is constantly reducing with the age. In adults they can be recorded principally during the asleep phase and in the rapid eye movement (REM) phase. In Figure A5 we can see an example of a theta wave.



The third neural oscillations are called *alpha waves*. These oscillations have a frequency range of oscillation within [7,5 - 12,5] *Hz*. An example is reported in Figure A6.



Alpha waves predominantly originate from the occipital lobe during wakeful relaxation with closed eyes. Occipital alpha waves during periods of eyes closed are the strongest EEG brain signals in amplitude [7].

The fourth neural oscillation are called *beta waves*. With the term beta wave it is designated the usual frequency range of human brain activity. The frequency band lies within [12,5 - 30] *Hz*. An example is reported in Figure A7.



Figure A7 Beta wave [4]

Increasing amplitude in beta activity is associated with a strengthening of sensory feedback in static motor control, while it is reduced in movement changes [8].

The perception of an external stimulation is connected to a specific reaction that is reflected in a modification in brain activity. According to the typology of the external stimulation, specific neuron populations gain a synchronous electrical polarization, which is reflected in a signal amplitude increase [9]. This category of signals is called sensory evoked potentials.

4 Evoked potentials

An evoked potential can be described as an electrical potential of the brain, due to the presentation of an external stimulation. There are three typologies of sensory evoked potentials in clinical use: auditory, somatosensory and visual evoked potentials.

As anticipate in **Section 2**, it is the external stimulation that evokes a characteristic brainwave in the subject. This typology of evoked potentials is defined as event-related potentials (ERP), [10, 11].



Time after stimulus (millisecs)

Figure A8 Schematic representation of ERP components ¹¹: this illustration of a typical eventrelated potential highlights the principal components related to visual evoked potential.

¹¹ Edited from http://www.intechopen.com/books/advances-in-clinicalneurophysiology/the-neurocognitive-networks-of-the-executive-functions

An ERP comprehends several components, distinguished by shape and time appearance according to the stimulus. Figure A8 illustrates the principal ERP components, associated to visual perception.

Typically, the components are labelled with two elements: the first letter indicates the positive or negative trend that the component has (in amplitude $[\mu V]$), while the second element is a number and it indicates either the hierarchical appearance, in terms of time, of the wave (i.e. P1, P2, N2 and so on) or the time instant where it usually reaches an amplitude peak (i.e. P300 components have a peak around 300 *ms*).

We report a brief schematic list of the principal ERP components involved in visual perception.

- The P1, also called the P100, is the first ERP positive-ongoing component and it usually peaks around 100 *ms*. This component is related to the processing of visual stimuli.
- The N1, also called the N100, component is the first negativeongoing component and it is usually elicited by visual stimuli.
- The P2, also called P200, component is the second positiveongoing wave evoked by the stimulus. Typically it is elicited as part of the normal response to a certain visual stimulation and has been studied in relation to attention, language and memory.
- The N2, also called N200, is a negative-ongoing wave that peaks 200 350 *ms* after the stimulus appearance. It fluctuates in relation of cognitive processing and is known as one of the most direct measures of covert mental operations.
- The P3, also called P300, wave is a component elicited during the process of decision making and its occurrence is involved in the evaluation and categorization of the stimulus. This component trend has a positive peak at roughly around 300 *ms*.

ERPs components are connected to all different responses that our brain activates after a specific stimulus. What brings together all ERP components is that all ERPs represent the synchronous activity from neuron populations in a certain region [12].

AB: Appendix Bibliography

- 1. Davies M, "The Neuron: size comparison". *Neuroscience: A journey through the brain. Retrieved*, (2009)
- 2. Debanne D, Campanac E, Bialowas A, Carlier E, Alcaraz G, "Axon physiology", *Physiological reviews 91 (2): 555–602, (2011).*
- Field J, (ed.) Handbook of Physiology: a Critical, Comprehensive Presentation of Physiological Knowledge and Concepts: Section 1: Neurophysiology 1. Washington, DC: American Physiological Society.
- 4. Luck SJ, (ed) An Introduction to the Event-Related Potential Technique, *the MIT Press.*
- 5. Subha DP, Joseph PK, Acharya UR, Lim CM, "EEG signal Analysis: A Survey," *Journal of Medical Systems, vol.34, pp.195-212, (2010).*
- 6. Michel CM, Koenig T, Brandeis D, Gianotti LRR, Wackermann J, "Electrical Neuroimaging", *in Cambridge, Medicine (Ed.), (2009).*
- 7. Kirschfeld K, "The Physical basis of alpha waves in the electroencephalogram and the origin of the "Berger effect"", *Biol Cybern*, (2005).
- 8. Zhang Y, Chen Y, Bressler SL, Ding M, "Response preparation and inhibition: the role of the cortical sensorimotor beta rhythm", *Neuroscience* 156 (1): 238–46, (2008).
- 9. Rector DM, Yao X, Harper RM, George JS, "In Vivo Observations of Rapid Scattered Light Changes Associated with Neurophysiological Activity", in *Chapter 5, CRC Press/Taylor & Francis, (2009).*
- 10. Handy TC, (ed.) Event Related Potentials: A Methods Handbook, Cambridge, MA: Bradford/MIT Press. (2005).
- 11. O'Shea RP, Roeber U, Bach M, "Evoked potentials: Vision", *in E. B. Goldstein (Ed.), Encyclopedia of Perception (2010).*
- 12. Clark VP, Fan S, Hillyard SA, (ed.) Identification of early visual evoked potential generators by retinotopic and topographic analyses, *Human Brain Mapping*, *2*, 170-187. (1995).

Bibliography

- 1. McFarland DJ, Wolpaw JR, "Brain-Computer Interfaces for Communication and Control", *Commun ACM*, (2011).
- 2. Mak JN, Wolpaw JR, "Clinical Applications of Brain-Computer Interfaces: Current State and Future Prospects", *IEEE Reviews in Biomedical Engineering, Vol. 2, (2009).*
- Wolpaw JR, Loeb GE, Allison BZ, Donchin E, do Nascimento OF, Heetderks WJ, Nijboer F, Shain WG, Turner JN, "BCI Meeting 2005—Workshop on signals and recording methods," *IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehab. Eng., vol. 14, pp. 138–141, (2006).*
- 4. Pazzaglia M, Molinari M, "Multisensory mechanisms underlying embodiment: Insights from and for spinal cord injury patients: Comment on *The embodiment of assistive devices-from wheelchair to exoskeleton*"
- 5. Daly JJ, Wolpaw JR, "Brain-computer interfaces in neurological rehabilitation," *Lancet Neurol., vol. 7, no. 11, pp. 1032–1043, Nov. 2008.*
- 6. Miller KJ, Schalk G, Hermes D, Ojemann JG, Rao RPN, "Spontaneous Decoding of the Timing and Content of Human Object Perception from Cortical Surface Recordings Reveals Complementary Information in the Event-Related Potential and Broadband Spectral Change", *PLoS Comput Biol 1, (2016).*
- 7. Carmena JM, Lebedev MA, Crist RE, O'Doherty JE, Santucci DM, Dimitrov DF, Patil PG, Henriquez CS, Nicolelis MAL, "Learning to Control a Brain-Machine Interface for Reaching and Grasping by Primates", *PLoS Biology, (2003).*
- 8. Chen X, Chen Z, Gao S, Gao X, "Brain-computer interface based on intermodulation frequency", *Journal of Neural Engineering*, (2013).
- 9. Velmurugan J, Sinha S, Satishchandra P, "Magnetoencephalography recording and analysis", *Ann Indian Acad Neurol, (2014).*
- 10. McClay WA, Yadav N, Ozbek Y, Haas A, Attias HT, Nagarajan SS, "A Real-Time Magnetoencephalography Brain-Computer Interface

Using Interactive 3D Visualization and the Hadoop Ecosystem", *brain sciences*, (2015).

- 11. Tsunoda K, Sekimoto S, Itoh K, "Near-infrared-spectroscopic study on processing of sounds in the brain; a comparison between native and non-native speakers of Japanese", *Acta Oto-Laryngologica DOI*, (2016).
- 12. Almajidy RK, Boudria Y, Hofmann UG, Besio W, Mankodiya K, "Multimodal 2D Brain Computer Interface", *Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc, (2015).*
- 13. Moreau F, Yang R, Nambiar V, Demchuk AM, Dunn JF, "Nearinfrared measurements of brain oxygenation in stroke", *Neurophotonics, (2016).*
- 14. Carr VA, Rissman J, Wagner AD, "Imaging the Human Medial Temporal Lobe with High-Resolution fMRI", *Cel Press Neuron Review*, (2009).
- 15. Weiskopf N, Mathiak K, Bock SW, Scharnowski F, Veit R, Grodd W, Goebel R, Birbaumer N, "Principles of a Brain-Computer Interface (BCI) Based on Real-Time Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging (fMRI), *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering, vol.* 51, no. 6, (2004).
- 16. Konger C, Principe JC, "Neural network classification of event related potentials for the development of a new computer interface," *in Proc. IJCNN'90, (1990).*
- 17. Pfurtscheller G, Neuper C, Guger C, Harkam W, Ramoser H, Schlogl A, Obermaier B, Pregenzer M, "Current trends in Graz Brain-Computer Interface (BCI) research," *IEEE Trans. Rehab. Eng., vol. 8, pp. 216–219, (2000).*
- 18. Galan F, Nuttin M, Lew E, Ferrez PW, Vanacker G, Philips J, Jdel RM, "A brain-actuated wheelchair: Asynchronous and noninvasive Brain-computer interfaces for continuous control of robots," *Clin. Neurophysiol., vol. 119, no. 9, pp. 2159–2169, (2008).*
- 19. Cincotti F, Mattia D, Aloise F, Bufalari S, Schalk G, Oriolo G, Cherubini A, Marciani MG, Babiloni F, "Non-invasive braincomputer interface system: Towards its application as assistive technology," *Brain Res. Bull., vol. 75, no. 6, pp. 796–803, (2008).*
- 20. Pfurtscheller G, Muller GR, Pfurtscheller J, Gerner HJ, Rupp R, "'Thought'—Control of functional electrical stimulation to restore hand grasp in a patient with tetraplegia," *Neurosci. Lett., vol. 351, no. 1, pp. 33–36, (2003).*
- 21. Michel CM, Koenig T, Brandeis D, Gianotti LRR, Wackermann J, "Electrical Neuroimaging", *in Cambridge, Medicine (Ed.), (2009).*
- 22. Zhang H, Tang Z, "To judge what color the subject watched by color effect on brain activity," *IJCSNS International Journal of*

Computer Science and Network Security, vol.11, no.2, pp.80-83, (2011).

- 23. Saupe K, Schröger E, Andersen SK, Müller MM, "Neural mechanisms of intermodal sustained selective attention with concurrently presented auditory and visual stimuli", *Human Neuroscience, (2009).*
- 24. Leeb R, Carlson T, Tonin L, Millán, "Brain-Actuated Assistive Mobility for Disabled End-User", *Biomed Tech*, (2013).
- 25. Tonin L, Leeb R, Millán JR, "Time-dependent approach for single trial classification of covert visuospatial attention", *Journal of Neural Engineering, Vol. 9, n 4, (2012).*
- 26. Tonin L, Leeb R, Sobolewski A, Millán JR, "An online EEG BCI based on covert visuospatial attention in absence of exogenous stimulation", *Journal of Neural Engineering, Vol. 10, n 5, (2013).*
- 27. Mehta R, Zhu R, "Blue or Red? Exploring the Effect of Color on Cognitive Task Performances", *Science 323:5918, pp. 1226-1229, (2009).*
- 28. Yoto A, Katsuura T, Iwanaga K, Shimomura Y, "Effects of Object Color Stimuli on Human Brain Activities in Perception and Attention Referred to EEG Alpha Band Response", *Journal of Physiological Anthropology, (2007).*
- 29. Coles MGH, Gratton G, Fabiani M, "Event-Related Potentials in Principles of psychophysiology: physical, social, and inferential elements", *in Cambridge University Press*, (1990).
- 30. Fischer B, Ramsperger E, "Human express saccades: Extremely short reaction times of goal directed eye movements". *Experimental Brain Research (1984).*
- 31. Raftopolous A, "Cognition and Perception", Oxford University Press, (2009).
- 32. Figueiro MG, Bierman A, Plitnick B, Rea MS, "Preliminary evidence that both blue and red light can induce alertness at night," *BMC Neuroscience, vol.10, article.105, (2009).*
- 33. Yang L, Leung H, "An online BCI game based on the decoding of users' attention to color stimulus", *35*th annual international conference of the IEEE EMBS, (2013).
- 34. Spitschan M, Datta R, Stern AM, Brainard DH, Aguirre GK, "Human Visual Cortex Responses to Rapid Cone and Melanopsin-Directed Flicker", *JNeurosci, the journal of neuroscience, (2016).*
- 35. Xing D, Ouni A, Chen S, Sahmoud H, Gordon J, Shapley R, "Brightness-color interactions in human early visual cortex", *JNeurosci, the journal of neuroscience, (2015).*
- 36. Vanston JE, Crognale M, "Chromatic visual evoked potentials using customized color space", *JOV*, *journal of vision*, (2015).

- 37. Willeford KT, Fimreite V, Ciuffreda KJ, "The effect of spectral filters on VEP and alpha-wave responses", *ELSEVIER journal of optometry*, (2015).
- 38. Parraga CA, Arkbarinia A, "NICE: A Computational Solution to Close the Gap from Colour Perception to Colour Categorization", *PLoS One, (2016).*
- 39. Tofallis C, "Model Building with Multiple Dependent Variables and Constraints". J. R. Stat. Soc. D (1999).
- 40. Agresti A, Caffo B, "Simple and Effective Confidence Intervals for Proportions and Differences of Proportions Result from Adding Two Successes and Two Failures", *The American Statistician* 54(4):280-288, (2000).
- 41. NIST/SEMATECH e-Handbook of Statistical Methods", *NIST. Retrieved*, (2010).
- 42. Duda RO, Hart PE, "Pattern classification and scene analysis", *New York: Wiley, (1973).*
- 43. Müller-Putz GR, Scherer R, Brunner C, Leeb R, Pfurtscheller G, "Better than random? A closer look on BCI results", *international Journal of Bioelectromagnetism", Graz University of Technology,* (2008).
- 44. Lin K, Cinetto A, Wang Y, Chen X, Gao S, Gao X, "An online hybrid BCI system based on SSVEP and EMG", *J Neural Eng*, (2016).
- 45. Ji H, Li J, Lu R, Gu R, Cao L, Gong X, "EEG Classification for Hybrid Brain-Computer Interface Using a Tensor Based Multiclass Multimodal Analysis Scheme", *Comput Intell Neuroscience, (2016).*
- 46. Regensburger U, Graefe V, "Visual Recognition of Obstacles on Roads", Intelligent Robots and Systems, Elsevier, (1994).